IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF CLEVELAND and MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

APPELLANTS

V.

NO. 2008-SA-00223

MID-SOUTH ASSOCIATES, LLC

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE DESOTO CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

OF COUNSEL:

Thomas L. Kirkland, Jr. (MSB # Allison C. Simpson (MSB # Andy Lowry (MSB # COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: 601.856.7200 Facsimile: 601.856.8242

Jamie F. Jacks (MSB # JACKS ADAMS & NORQUIST Post Office Box 1209 Cleveland, Mississippi 38732 Telephone: 662.843.6171 Facsimile: 662.843.6176 Counsel for City of Cleveland

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the Chancery Court Wrongly Reviewed This Matter *De Novo*, Rather Than Deferring to the Department.
- II. Whether the Rejection of Mid-South's Application Was Supported by Substantial Evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below

Mid-South Associates, LLC ("Mid-South") filed its Certificate of Need ("CON") application on December 12, 2006, seeking to relocate 75 nursing-home beds from Bolivar County to DeSoto County at a capital cost of \$4,895,000.00. R.E. 3 (hearing officer's proposed findings and conclusions) at 1.1 The staff of the Mississippi State Department of Health ("the Department") in March 2007 provided its analysis recommending that the application be disapproved due to its substantial adverse impact on Bolivar County's population and its consequent failure to comply with the State Health Plan and the CON Review Manual's applicable criteria. R.E. 3 at 1; R.E. 4 (staff analysis) at 12-13.

On May 7, 2007, the City of Cleveland ("the City"), where the existing 75-bed facility is located, entered its appearance to participate in the hearing during the course of review as an "affected person." R.E. 3 at 1-2. This hearing was held in June 2007. The hearing officer requested draft findings and conclusions from both parties, and adopted those jointly submitted by the City and the Department as her proposed findings and conclusions which she transmitted to the State Health Officer. On September 27, 2007, the State Health Officer adopted the staff analysis and the findings and conclusions of the hearing officer, and issued his Final Order disapproving the CON. R.E. 5 (Final Order).

Mid-South, exercising its option under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(a) to appeal to the DeSoto Chancery Court rather than to the Hinds Chancery Court, First Judicial District, did so,

¹Record excerpts are cited by tab number. Where a page number is also given, it refers to the pagination of the original document. Record excerpt 8 includes those pages of the hearing transcript cited in this brief, and those pages are cited as "T. ."

and obtained a decision from that court on January 25, 2008, holding that relocating the 75 beds from Bolivar County to DeSoto County should have been approved and that that Department erred in failing to see the wisdom of this proposal. R.E. 2 (Court's Ruling).

The Department and the City timely appealed to this Court.

II. Relevant Facts

Mid-South, a Delaware company operating out of Cordova, Tennessee, "owns/leases" Bolivar Health and Rehabilitation Center ("BHRC") in Cleveland, Bolivar County, Mississippi. R.E. 4 at 1. That facility is operated presently by Joy Health & Rehab of Cleveland Mississippi, LLC ("Joy Health"), another Delaware company out of Cordova, Tennessee. R.E. 4 at 1 (see also the publicly available information at the Secretary of State's website). Judy Ullery, president of Joy Health, is also president and chairman of the board of Covenant Dove, Inc., "a general partner for 13 nursing homes," two in Mississippi. R.E. 8 (T.335, 337).²

Mid-South applied to move the 75 beds at BHRC to a new, \$4.895 million facility in Hernando, DeSoto County, Mississippi. R.E. 3 at 1. It would not have been possible for Mid-South simply to build a 75-bed nursing home in Hernando, because the Legislature has imposed a moratorium on CONs for building, adding to, or expanding any nursing home in the State unless via an express statutory authorization. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191(2); R.E. 3 at 3. By

²As Ms. Ullery's testimony (T.376-80) suggests, it was never clear who actually owned the license for BHRC at the time the CON application was filed — certainly not Mid-South. R.E. 3 at 2. The licensee was Dynamic Cleveland Operating Co., LLC at the time of filing, an entity as to which Ms. Ullery disavowed any certain knowledge. (See the directory of facilities on the Department's website.)

The City moved to dismiss the appeal on the basis that there was no evidence that the correct party had filed the CON application, but this motion was denied at the hearing. R.E. 3 at 2-3.

the same token, once the beds were moved from Bolivar County, they could not be replaced by a new or expanded facility. R.E. 3 at 3.

After the Department's staff recommended disapproval, and the City entered the case as a party affected by the relocation, a hearing during the course of review was held where testimony was heard from the following 19 individuals:

- Sam Dawkins, the Department's director of its Office of Health Policy and Planning,
 who testified that the application did not meet the Department's criteria.
- Chip Johnson, mayor of Hernando, who supported the relocation.
- Jean Beard, a Covenant Dove employee with a B.A. in accounting and a certificate as a Compliance Specialist, whose job appeared to consist largely in auditing facilities for regulatory compliance and in finding lucrative markets for nursing homes. R.E. 8 (T.99-102). The City objected to her admission as an expert in strategic health care planning, but this objection was denied by the hearing officer. R.E. 8 (T.104-05).
- John Mayo, a state representative for Coahoma, Tunica, and DeSoto Counties, who supported the relocation. He admitted not having sought in the Legislature to amend the moratorium statute to provide an exception for any new beds in DeSoto County.³ R.E. 8 (T.159-60, 164).
- David Work, Sr., mayor of Cleveland, who opposed the relocation.
- Judy Ullery, for the relocation.

³Inspection of Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191 will show that it consists in large part of legislative authorizations to build facilities, including nursing homes, at various places in the State. See also R.E. 8 (T.162-163) (reviewing statute with Mr. Mayo).

- Marilyn Winborne, the Department's director of the Bureau of Health Facilities under the Licensure and Certification Division, who appeared by subpoena to discuss licensure and regulatory issues.
- Willie Lee Simmons, a state senator for Bolivar, Humphreys, and Sunflower Counties, who rebutted Mid-South's testimony as regards allegations about the neighborhood where BHRC is located and who testified to the "devastating" impact the relocation would have on the Medicaid-eligible population. R.E. 8 (T.446-48).
- Maurice Smith, a City alderman for the ward where BHRC is now located in Cleveland, similarly described the negative impact on "low socioeconomic level" citizens. R.E. 8 (T.480).
- John Lindsey, chief administrative officer for the City of Cleveland, testified against the relocation, discussing the "impact of the the people not being able to stay in the community where they've chosen to live." R.E. 8 (T.484).
- Carolyn Lucas, whose mother lives at BHRC, and who opposed the relocation.
- Bud Carroll, whose wife lives at BHRC, and who opposed the relocation.
- Dr. Steven Clark, the medical director for BHRC, who testified to the importance of residents' being close to family and friends, and that relocation outside the Cleveland area "would be lethal for some of the residents." R.E. 8 (T.507). He also testified, based on his experience as medical director at BHRC and at another nursing home in Cleveland, that the community would not "have adequate care if we lost the beds available at [BHRC]." R.E. 8 (T.517).
- Louise Bell, whose father lives at BHRC, and who opposed the relocation.
- Sara McClure, whose father-in-law lives at BHRC, and who opposed the relocation.

- Gloria Rash, a 28-year employee of the BHRC facility, whose 23-year-old nephew is a resident at BHRC, and who opposed the relocation.
- Sherry Davis, the administrator of BHRC, who testified as to the high quality of care
 provided at the existing facility.
- Kathy Bryant, the director of nursing at BHRC, who testified to the negative effects of a relocation out of town for her residents, and who opposed the relocation. R.E. 8 (T.556-58, 564-66).
- John Hyde, a professor of health services research and health care management at the
 University of Mississippi Medical Center, who was accepted as an expert in health care
 management, planning, and statistics, and who testified to his complete agreement with
 the staff analysis of Mid-South's application. R.E. 8 (T.574).

Having heard the evidence presented and endorsed the proposed findings and conclusions filed by the City and the Department, the hearing officer forwarded them to the State Health Officer, who adopted them along with the staff analysis and issued his order disapproving the relocation.

Mid-South, feeling aggrieved, appealed to the DeSoto Chancery Court the denial of its proposal to move beds to DeSoto County, and obtained an order from that court, reversing the denial of the CON. The City and the Department then appealed to this Court for the reinstatement of the Department's decision.

Further facts relevant to this appeal will be set forth as appropriate in the Argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The chancery court impermissibly reweighed the evidence in this matter, citing as its excuse the hearing officer's adoption of the proposed findings and conclusions submitted by the City and the Department. The chancellor erred as a matter of law by disregarding the separation-of-powers considerations, statutory and constitutional, which require the judicial branch to defer to the decisions of administrative agencies. Regardless of who drafted the findings ultimately adopted, the bottom line must remain that if the Department had substantial evidence to support its decision, that decision must be affirmed.

Substantial evidence supported the rejection of the proposed relocation. The Department's CON criteria include consideration of a relocation's impact on the health care provided to the population presently served, especially any negative impact on underserved persons such as those with low incomes. On that criterion alone, the relocation obviously had a negative impact on the health care available in Bolivar County, which by itself supported the denial of the application. The State Health Plan expressly forbids approving a CON with a significant negative impact on indigent care, and the Department had substantial evidence of such an impact in the present case, most obviously due to Mid-South's projection of sharply reduced Medicaid utilization if the beds went to DeSoto.

The Department was fully within its rights to hold that the needs of affluent DeSoto County must not be gratified by depriving the economically disadvantaged residents of Bolivar County. The Department's decision rested on substantial evidence, was neither arbitrary nor capricious, and rested on no error of law. It should have been affirmed by the DeSoto court, and this Court should reverse and render.

ARGUMENT

I. The Chancery Court Wrongly Reviewed This Matter *De Novo* Rather Than Deferring to the Department.

Unusually for any appeal of an administrative agency's decision, the standard of review is a disputed issue in this case. The chancery court refused to follow the ordinary standard of deferential review, on the basis that the hearing officer's proposed findings and conclusions, which were adopted by the State Health Officer, had been drafted by counsel for the City. R.E. 2 at 2. In so doing, the chancery court acted contrary to law, misinterpreted the teachings of this Court, and ignored fundamental issues requiring judicial deference to administrative decisions.

A. Deferential Review Is Mandated by the Legislature and the Mississippi Constitution.

The Legislature has directed the courts how they are to review the final orders of the Department in CON cases:

The order [of the Department] shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the court finds that the order of the State Department of Health is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the State Department of Health, or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal.

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(f). That should settle the issue of the standard of review right there, unless the chancery court was entitled to read exceptions into the statute.

In CON cases as in other administrative appeals, this Court has always strictly adhered to this "familiar limitation[] upon the scope of judicial review of administrative agency decisions." *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d 973, 976 (Miss. 1999).

[O]ur Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies. Our courts are not permitted

to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one ... since the courts cannot enter the field of administrative agency.

Id. (quoting Cook v. Mardi Gras Casino Corp., 697 So. 2d 378, 380 (Miss. 1997) (emphasis altered).

The just-quoted language ultimately derives from this Court's landmark decision in Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664 (Miss. 1969). In that case, this Court firmly recognized and re-affirmed the principle of judicial deference to agency decisions, resting upon our State Constitution's firm separation of the legislative, executive, and judicial powers: "the powers of government under our Constitution are divided into three distinct departments, and . . . persons acting or belonging to one of such departments [are] prevented from exercising power in any other department." Id. (citing Loftin v. George County Bd. of Educ., 183 So. 2d 621, 623 (Miss. 1966)). As did the Loftin Court, we cite to Article 1, Sections 1 and 2 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890:

The powers of the government of the state of Mississippi shall be divided into three distinct departments, and each of them confided to a separate magistracy, to-wit: those which are legislative to one, those which are judicial to another, and those which are executive to another.

No person or collection of persons, being one or belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any power properly belonging to either of the others. (quoted in *Loftin*, 183 So. 2d at 623).

The case law of this State is replete with instance of this judicial deference to agency decisions:

- The agency's decision "is afforded great deference upon judicial review." St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 728 So. 2d 81, 83 (Miss. 1998) (quoting Miss. Dep't of Health v. S.W. Miss. Reg'l. Hosp., 580 So. 2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 1991)).
- This "great deference" creates a presumption that the agency's decision is valid. *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 663 So. 2d 563, 579 (Miss. 1995).
- This Court does not defer to the chancellor's decision on appeal from the agency, but reviews the chancery court de novo. Id. at 574.
- It is the challenging party's burden to establish that the agency's conduct is arbitrary and capricious. *Jackson HMA, Inc. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 822 So. 2d 968, 970 (Miss. 2002).
- A decision which is "fairly debatable" as to its correctness is not arbitrary and capricious. Falco Lime, Inc. v. Mayor & Aldermen of City of Vicksburg, 836 So. 2d 711, 721 (Miss. 2002).
- The courts may not substitute their judgment for that of the agency. Melody Manor Convalescent Ctr. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 546 So. 2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989).
- Nor may a court reviewing an agency's decision engage in reweighing the facts of the case. *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Ross*, 829 So. 2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 2002).
- "Therefore, if the evidence is there, the decision stands even though the Chancellor or this Court might have made a different decision." United Cement Co. v. Safe Air for the Envir., Inc., 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990).
- The agency's decision need only have relied upon "substantial" evidence, i.e., "more than a scintilla or a suspicion." *Natchez Cmty.*, 743 So. 2d at 977.

- It need only be "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds *might* accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman*, 846 So. 2d 1014, 1017 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added).
- The agency, as finder of fact, is free to choose between two conflicting positions, each of which is supported by substantial, credible evidence. *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.*, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224-25 (Miss. 1997).
- Findings of credibility are for the agency, not for the appellate courts, to make, where substantial evidence appears in the record. *Boyles v. Miss. State Oil & Gas Bd.*, 794 So. 2d 149, 156-57 (Miss. 2001).

The above citations are merely a small fraction of those in which this Court has stated the rule and implications of its deference to administrative agencies' decisions. Nonetheless, in the present case, the chancellor held that she "must review the record de novo." R.E. 2 at 2. How did this happen?

B. The Lower Court Erred in Applying This Court's Decision in Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Johnson to the Present Case.

Despite the Legislature's having mandated a deferential standard of review, the chancery court improperly applied this Court's holding that, in a bench trial, the trial court sitting as finder of fact must be reviewed *de novo* where it adopts one party's proposed findings and conclusions as its own. R.E. 2 at 2 (citing *Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Johnson*, 873 So. 2d 108 (Miss. 2004)).⁴ That decision, which enlarged this Court's prior scope of review, had a curious history, but in any event is fully distinguishable from the present case.

⁴Miscited by the chancery court as "837 So. 2d 108."

The Johnson decision was largely based upon this Court's prior holding in Brooks v. Brooks, 652 So. 2d 1113 (Miss. 1995). In Brooks, this Court was reviewing a chancellor's findings regarding an allegation of adultery in a divorce suit, and noted that the chancery court had adopted a litigant's proposed findings as its own. Brooks, 652 So. 2d at 1118. This Court in Brooks noted earlier cases which it summarized as requiring that, in such cases, the reviewing court "analyzes such cases with greater care" and subjects the evidence to "heightened scrutiny." Id. (citing OmniBank v. United So. Bank, 607 So. 2d 76, 83 (Miss. 1992) and Matter of Estate of Ford, 552 So. 2d 1065, 1068 (Miss. 1987)). Although neither OmniBank nor Ford applied a de novo standard of review, however, the Brooks Court nonetheless relied upon those precedents as authority for such de novo review, and this Court in Johnson relied upon Brooks likewise.

The holdings relied upon in *OmniBank* and *Ford* themselves rested on a single case also cited in *Brooks*, this Court's decision in *Rice Researchers, Inc. v. Hiter*, 512 So. 2d 1259 (Miss. 1987). In that case, the trial court approved "almost verbatim" proposed findings of one party. *Id.* at 1265. This Court noted that it could not apply the usual deference in reviewing such decisions:

These findings simply are not the same as findings independently made by the trial judge after impartially and judiciously sifting through the conflicts and nuances of the trial testimony and exhibits. The matter is important, because **the primary reason the law limits our scope of review** is that the trial judge [is] uniquely situated, both institutionally and pragmatically, to "smell the smoke of the battle." *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So.2d 705, 708 (Miss.1983). Here the trial judge was a non-smoker.

Still, we cannot and will not review this case de novo. Obviously, the Chancery Court was of the view that over all Defendants Williams, et al., had the

⁵In addition to *Brooks*, the *Johnson* Court cited another case, which however itself relied upon *Brooks*. *See Holden v. Frasher-Holden*, 680 So. 2d 795, 798 (Miss. 1996).

better of the battle. That determination is entitled to deference, though sensibly not as much as in the ordinary case.

Id. (emphasis added). Remarkably, the foundational case for Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Johnson turns out to be a decision in which this Court expressly declined to review the adopted findings of the trial court de novo but rather held that it must still defer to those findings, just "not as much as in the ordinary case." The "heightened scrutiny" recognized in OmniBank and Ford is a straightforward application of this holding. In Brooks and then in Johnson, by contrast, this Court cited earlier precedents as requiring de novo review when in fact those precedents did not venture so far from the norm.

The foregoing genealogy of the precedents underlying the *Johnson* decision is not an attack on that decision's merits, of course. Those merits are *not even before this Court* on the present appeal, because *Johnson* can and must be distinguished.

Neither *Johnson*, nor *Brooks*, nor *OmniBank*, nor *Ford*, nor *Hiter*, involved the appeal of an administrative agency's decision. (*Johnson*, though a suit against MDOT, was a tort action in which the plaintiff hit a cow in the road.) In none of those cases was there cited a Legislative mandate of the correct standard of review such as is found at Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(f). In none of those cases did the Constitutional issue of the separation of powers arise as regards the proper standard of review.

Rather, in all five of those cases, this Court was exercising its judicial authority as the head of the judicial department of the State of Mississippi, delineating for the trial courts how they are to exercise their fact-finding powers and how their exercise of those powers will be reviewed on appeal. As subissue A, above, demonstrated, that is a whole different kettle of fish

than the separation-of-powers issue which dictate this Court's deferential review of agency decisions.⁶

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