003-5A-00223

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned Counsel for Mid-South Associates, LLC, certifies that the

following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These

representations are made in order that the Judge of this Court may evaluate possible

disqualifications or recusal:

- 1. Mid-South Associates, LLC, Appellee;
- 2. Mississippi State Department of Health and the City of Cleveland, Mississippi, Appellants;
- 3. Don Eicher, Esq. and Sondra McLemore, Esq., Mississippi State Department of Health, Appellant;
- 4. John L. Maxey II, Esq. Maxey Wann PLLC, Jackson, Mississippi, attorney for Appellee, Mid-South Associates, LLC;

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The MSDH denied Mid-South's application for a certificate of need to relocate its 75 nursing home beds from Bolivar County to DeSoto County, Mississippi. Mid-South appealed the MSDH decision to the DeSoto County Chancery Court. The Chancellor, presented with the MSDH decision and the record made in the administrative tribunal, observed the written findings adopted as the decision of MSDH were adopted *in toto* from those authored by Mid-South's Opponents. The Chancellor found she must review the entire record *de novo* to discern the basis for the MSDH decision.

r

The Chancellor reviewed the entire record and found MSDH committed an error of law in its use of a standard for determining need for nursing home beds other than the standard established at law in the 2007 State Health Plan. The Chancellor found the resulting determinations of MSDH were arbitrary and capricious.

The Chancellor set aside the decision of MSDH and granted Mid-South a certificate of need to relocate its 75 beds to DeSoto County, finding Mid-South's application complied with the projection of need established in the *State Health Plan*.

ARGUMENT

But for the action of the MSDH, underserved Desoto County would now have under construction a \$4.895 million state-of-the-art nursing home. But for the action of MSDH, a modern skilled nursing facility—a replacement of a forty year old building– would be accessible to all of the citizens of Mississippi. But for the action of the MSDH, health care of the citizens in this state would be improved by the contribution of private capital—not at the expense of the taxpayers. The action of MSDH to deny Mid-South a certificate of need to relocate its nursing home was based on an error of law and, when so recognized by the lower court, was reversed. MSDH now seeks to have the Court reinstate that error of law, a result which will violate settled principles of appellate review as well as deprive Mississippi's health care system of needed resources. The lower court's decision rightly should be affirmed.

I. The Chancellor Correctly Determined the Decision of the MSDH Warranted Review Beyond That Routinely Afforded Administrative Agency Decisions.

A. Background.

When a decision of the MSDH denying an applicant a Certificate of Need is presented to a chancery court for review, the chancery court must proceed in its review guided by the parameters established by statute and mindful of the limitations upon the scope of judicial review announced by this Court. This Court's decisions establishing that scope of review are legion. Reviewing courts and this Court often repeat the "familiar limitations upon the scope of review of administrative agency, which is the arbitrary-and-capricious standard." *Greenwood Leflore Hosp. v. Mississippi State Department of Health*, 980 So.2d 931, 934 (Miss. 2008). One legal commentary has

observed just how routine is the consideration of such appeals:

1

i

: k There is a sense of *deja vu* when reading the opening of successive court opinions that review administrative action. That is because both appellate courts intone almost as a mantra the same multi-part standard of review in most opinions... The agency is the decision maker. Within quite broad parameters, that decision is for the agency to reach. The appeal is a limited one, since courts cannot perform the discretionary tasks of the administrative agency.

1 MS Prac. Encyclopedia MS Law § 2:93. The commentary further alerts litigants to "take that standard seriously, however, since appellate courts do." *Id.*

Equally serious is the responsibility of the administrative agency to actually make a reasoned decision upon which the appellate court can adequately perform its important, albeit limited function in review. When an agency fails to reach a reasoned decision on an issue before it, fails to issue the findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary to inform a decision for which it is responsible, or delegates its responsibility to an unauthorized decision-maker, how can an appellate court perform its review? These questions, in a variety of contexts, have been answered by this Court as a preliminary consideration in its review of lower courts' review of administrative agency decisions. It is unnecessary to distinguish, at this point, between the levels of deference afforded decisions of a lower tribunal or administrative agency by an appellate court in review. Rather, Mid-South would point the Court's attention to the specific decision presented the DeSoto County Chancellor for review as a necessary point of preliminary consideration.

B. It is Indisputable the Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Authored by the City of Cleveland Were Adopted In Toto as the Decision of the State Health Officer.

The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Hearing Officer in this case

were copied *in toto* from the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law presented by the Appellants, Opponents City of Cleveland joined by the Department of Health. This fact is indisputable upon a comparison of those two documents, identical right down to footnotes, grammatical, semantical and typographical errors. (R.E. 1 and 2). The documents differ only slightly in pagination, and in the typing in of the name of the month in which the document was signed by the Hearing Officer. Thus, the Chancellor correctly found she had to conduct her own independent review of the record. Relying on *Mississippi Dept. of Transp. v. Johnson*, 873 So.2d 108 (Miss. 2004), the

Chancellor announced she "must review the record de novo." (R.E. 3 at 2).

As will be discussed further herein, the indisputable evidence the Department's decision was adopted *in toto* from the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law of the Opponents, with those findings predicated upon and adopting the legal error born in the Department's Staff Analysis, was sufficient justification for a heightened scrutiny of the Department's decision. Additionally, the presence of legal error in the Department's findings, forming the basis of the State Health Officer's final decision, warranted the reversal of that decision irrespective of the standard of review applied to consideration of the factual evidence¹. As this Court will see, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the reversal of the Department on the basis of legal error alone. Woven throughout the Department's purported findings are inferences and

Though the Brief of the Appellants/Opponents spends page after page arguing the evolution of jurisprudence allowing divergence from the "great deference" normally afforded the reasoned decision of a lower tribunal, the arguments are merely academic in light of the indisputable facts of this case. Though Appellants apparently concede no evidence exists the Hearing Officer actually reviewed the record in this case (the decision "perhaps drafted by attorneys who frequently practice before the Department"), Appellants now urge this Court to defer to that decision as if it had been.

factual determinations by the Department entirely dependent upon the premise the projected need for nursing home beds in Bolivar and DeSoto Counties, published in the applicable *2007 State Health Plan* is "not true" or "artificial." (R.E. 1 at 22).

C. Appellate Courts Must Examine The Entire Record For Evidence to Explain the Basis for an Agency Decision

"When reviewing an administrative agency's decision," a court "must look at the full record before it in deciding whether the agency's findings were supported by substantial evidence." Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marguez. 774 So.2d 421, 427 (Miss. 2000). In so doing, the court "is not relegated to wearing blinders." Id. In this case, the Chancellor acknowledged the standard of review of a final order of the Department is controlled by statute and that, normally, an appellate court would review the Department's decision under the substantial evidence standard. (R.E. 3 at 2). As should be clear to this Court, the Chancellor had a valid concern regarding the integrity of the decision of the Department of Health, irrespective of any determination of its ultimate "correctness." This Court has opined judicial review of an administrative decision "is necessarily a function of the court's ability to divine with confidence" what the administrative agency "has done and how has it done it." See generally, McGowan v. Mississippi State Oil & Gas Bd., 604 So.2d 312, 321 (Miss. 1992). In the case before the Court, it is evident the DeSoto County Chancellor had cause to sift much more carefully through the record to discern the basis for the Department's decision. Ultimately, the Chancellor determined the Department's findings were arbitrary and capricious, predicated as they were upon a fundamental error of law regarding the projected need for nursing home beds.

D. The Statutory Standard of Review Governing Appeals of Department of Health Decisions Regarding Certificates of Need.

Notwithstanding arguments of the Opponents to the contrary, the standard of review to be applied in this appeal of the Order of the Mississippi State Department of Health denving a Certificate of Need is not in dispute; it is statutory:

...The order shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the court finds that the order of the State Department of Health is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the State Department of Health, or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal.

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f) (emphasis added). This is actually a straightforward case which exposes the important role of judicial review of an administrative agency decision as more than a rote application of the "substantial evidence rule." The fundamental notions of due process, notice and an opportunity to be heard, are poorly served when those charged with hearing a cause abdicate objectivity through rote adherence to the will of one side of a legal dispute.

II. An Appellate Court Reviews Questions of Law De Novo.

i

i

A. This Court Should View Mid-South's CON Application, as Did the Chancellor Below.

The MSDH is charged with reviewing applications for certificates of need to relocate nursing home beds under §§ 41-7-191(1)(b) and (e) and §41-7-193 of the Mississippi Code. Section 41-7-191(1)(b) requires a certificate of need be granted authorizing the relocation of a health care facility as proposed by Mid-South. Section 41-7-193(1) provides, in relevant part, the following with regard to obtaining a certificate

of need:

A Certificate of Need shall not be granted or issued to any person for any proposal, cause or reason, unless the proposal has been reviewed for consistency with the specifications and the criteria established by the State Department of Health and substantially complies with the projection of need as reported in the state health plan in effect at the time the application for the proposal was submitted.

(emphasis added). As the Department and this Court have acknowledged, a

determination of "need" for a healthcare planning project is the most relevant

consideration in any certificate of need review. (R.E. 1 at 8). This Court has observed:

Pursuant to statute, the controlling question in every CON review is whether the project substantially complies with the Plan's projection of need, not any other lesser standard of need. If MSDH strays from applying the Plan's projection of need, it commits legal error, and acts arbitrarily and capriciously.

St. Dominic-Madison County Medical Center v. Madison County Medical Center, 928

So.2d 822, 826 (Miss. 2006)(emphasis in original). The applicable 2007 State Health *Plan* establishes the need for nursing home beds in Bolivar and Desoto Counties, *as a matter of law.* It is indisputable the *Plan* establishes DeSoto County with a need for 567 more beds than currently in its inventory. It is equally indisputable the *Plan* establishes that *Bolivar County is overbedded by 92 beds.* (R.E.6 at 18).

Mid-South appealed the denial of its Certificate of Need because it believes, and the Chancellor below agreed, a review of the entire record of the Department hearing on Mid-South's application exposes one arbitrary and capricious determination after another by the Department, each predicated on a fundamental error of law. Laced throughout the MSDH Staff Analysis, the Department's Findings, and repeated in the Appellants' Brief filed in this Court, is the assertion the bed need established by the 2007 Plan is "not true," "phantom," and "irrelevant." (R.E. 1 at 22). This argument of the Opponents is legal error on its face, and although a wishful argument of the Opponents, the lower court could not stray from the law on Opponents' speculation. On this basis alone, the Chancellor was justified in her decision to reverse the Department's decision. As this Court will see, the Department extended this legal error as a foundational premise for its other findings in consideration of Mid-South's application, and, therefore, the DeSoto County Chancellor had a sound basis upon which to determine those findings, like fruit from the poisonous tree, arbitrary and capricious.

1

;

£.

ĸ

i.

Ł

i.

ί,

B. The Department is Charged to Review CON Applications Objectively.

Mississippi's *State Health Plan* is the blueprint for allocation of the state's healthcare resources. Specifically for nursing home beds, for which a legislative moratorium is in effect prohibiting the expansion or addition of nursing home beds in the state's inventory, the *State Health Plan* allocates the number of beds allowed within the separate Health Care Planning Districts. Nursing home beds can be relocated or replaced within a Planning District, but no beds can be relocated from one Planning District to another and the introduction of additional beds into the state inventory is not allowed. Both Bolivar County and DeSoto County are located within the same Planning District. The second page of Table 8-4, from Chapter 8, page 18 of the *2007 Mississippi State Health Plan* identifies the projected need for nursing home beds within the counties designated within Long Term Care Planning District I (LTCPD I). The *State Health Plan* clearly establishes DeSoto County as having a projected need for 567 more beds than in its current inventory and projects Bolivar County as being overbedded by 92 beds:

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